# **Plant-Pollutant Interaction**

# **Rida Rehman and Alvina Gul**

#### Contents

| 1  | Introduction                        |   |     |  |  |  |
|----|-------------------------------------|---|-----|--|--|--|
| 2  | Effect of Pollutants on Pollinators |   |     |  |  |  |
| 3  | Soil                                | Soil Pollution  |     |  |  |  |
|    | 3.1                                 | Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)                               | 217 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.2                                 | Nitrogen; Its Role Towards Plant Growth                       | 218 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.3                                 | Stone Crushing  | 219 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.4                                 | Phthalic Acid Esters (PAEs)                                   | 220 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.5                                 | Heavy Metals  | 221 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.6                                 | Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)                       | 222 |  |  |  |
|    | 3.7                                 | Zinc; Afront Line Pollutant                                   | 223 |  |  |  |
| 4  | Air Pollution                       |   |     |  |  |  |
|    | 4.1                                 | Benzene   | 225 |  |  |  |
|    | 4.2                                 | Ozone   | 225 |  |  |  |
| 5  | Nanoparticles; a New Threat         |   |     |  |  |  |
|    | 5.1                                 | Engineered Nanoparticles and Their Toxicity to Microorganisms | 230 |  |  |  |
| 6  | Role                                | of Forests  | 231 |  |  |  |
| 7  | Future Prospects                    |   |     |  |  |  |
|    | 7.1                                 | Synthetic Soil  | 232 |  |  |  |
|    | 7.2                                 | Phytoremediation  | 233 |  |  |  |
|    | 7.3                                 | Activated Carbon  | 234 |  |  |  |
| 8  | Conclusions                         |   |     |  |  |  |
| Re | References                          |   |     |  |  |  |
|    |                                     |   |     |  |  |  |

**Abstract** Plants are the primary reservoirs in food chain. They play a key role in the conversion of energy into food. The life on Earth is impossible without plants. With the increasing advances in different fields, the health of plants is deteriorating drastically. Heavy metals have become an environmental concern because of their adverse and detrimental effects on human life. Apart from that, one of the most important components of global change is increase in atmospheric nitrogen (N), which is threatening both the structure and function of the ecosystem. The N cycle is dominated by anthropogenic activity and the emission and deposition rates

R. Rehman • A. Gul (🖂)

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences,

National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad, Pakistan e-mail: alvina\_gul@yahoo.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht 2015 M. Öztürk et al. (eds.), *Plants, Pollutants and Remediation*, DOI 10.1007/978-94-017-7194-8\_11

of N are expected to be doubled by 2050, which will greatly increase the number of regions potentially receiving damaging levels of N inputs. Another harmful air pollutant is the tropospheric ozone ( $O_3$ ) having negative impact on the growth and development of plants. Current concentration of  $O_3$  is decreasing the productivity of forest and crop yields. Future  $O_3$  concentration will increase if the current emission rate stays persistent. In addition, benzene; a volatile organic compound (VOC), is extracted from industries of petroleum and used widely as an additive or intermediate or solvent in many manufacturing industries. Ambient air pollution problems can be caused by the emission of benzene from many sources, even though several organizations and countries have standard guidelines on benzene use. A number of studies have been carried out to study the effect of petro-coke, cement, coal and dust, fly ash, automobile exhaust and other air-borne particulates on different physiological and morphological parameters in plants.

**Keywords** Phytoremediation • Chromated copper arsenate • Polyaromatic hydrocarbons • Benzene • Nanoparticles

# 1 Introduction

The evolution of Earth started nearly 4.5 billion years ago. Since that time, formation of earth has been all about changes in the balance and making life more adaptable. As the humans grew in number, evolution in humans also resulted as an integral element in the delicate balance of nature. The growth of humans increased at the expense of other living things as well as the ecosystem. (Purohit and Ranjan 2007). With development in the industrial sector, the numbers of pollutants affecting plant growth are increasing rapidly. Pollution harms the health or survival of all living organisms i.e. humans, animals and plants. Air is polluted significantly by the release of toxic materials and chemicals from different sources. Windcarries the emissions from the industries to hundreds of miles, where they come down from the sky in the form of acid rain, snow and dust rendering acidity in lakes and making them unsuitable for aquatic animals and plants. The humanrace is faced with the challenge of supporting enormous population growth. Basically, there are two types of pollutants, which are discussed below:

#### I. Primary pollutants

Primary pollutants are those particles or gases, which are pumped into the air to make it polluted. These include gases like carbon monoxide from different automobiles exhausts as well as sulfur dioxide from coal combustion.

#### II. Secondary pollutants

Pollutants have a tendency to mix up in the air and form even more complex compounds. When the primary pollutants mix up in the air in a chemical reaction, they result in the formation of even more dangerous chemical. Photochemical smog is an example of secondary pollutant which is formed in the atmosphere

by the reaction of two primary pollutants. Photochemical smog is the product of chemical reactions driven by sunlight and involving  $NO_x$  of urban and industrial origin and volatile organic compounds from either vegetation (*biogenic* hydrocarbons) or human activities (*anthropogenic* hydrocarbons).

Plants are affected by a number of pollutants whether it is soil or environmental pollution. Ozone depletion is one of the most alarming situation and is considered as a major concern of environment on Earth. Apart from that, the burning of hydrocarbons in engines of motor vehicles results in the formation of hazardous gases, which include CO, SO<sub>2</sub> (sulfur dioxide), NO<sub>x</sub> (NO [nitrogen monoxide]) and  $NO_2$ —in varying proportions—and  $C_2H_4$  (ethylene), as well as a variety of other hydrocarbons. Additionally SO2 also originates from domestic and industrial burning of fossil fuels. Industrial plants, such as chemical works and metal-smelting plants, release SO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>S, NO<sub>2</sub>, and HF (hydrogen fluoride) into the atmosphere. Tall chimney stacks may be used to carry gases and particles to a high altitude and thus avoid local pollution, but the pollutants return to Earth, sometimes hundreds of kilometers away from the original source. Ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) and peroxyacetylnitrate (PAN) produced in these complex reactions can become injurious to plants and other life forms, depending on the concentration and duration of exposure. Hydrogen peroxide; another potentially injurious molecule, can form by the reaction between  $O_3$  and naturally released volatiles (terpenes) from forest trees (Ozturk 1989; Zeiger 2006).

The concentration of polluting gases, or their solutions, to which plants are exposed are thus highly variable, depending on location, wind direction, rainfall, and sunlight. In urban areas, concentrations of SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> in the air are typically 0.02–0.5 mL L<sup>-1</sup>, the upper value being within the range that is inhibitory to plant growth. Relatively long-term experiments at appropriate concentrations of pollutants are necessary to establish the real impact of air pollution on vegetation. The reaction of plants to high concentration of pollutants in short-term experiments may overwhelm the plant's defense mechanisms (Zeiger 2006).

The responses of plants to polluting gases can also be affected by other ambient conditions, such as light, humidity, temperature, and the supply of water and minerals. Experiments aimed at determining the impact of chronic exposure to low concentrations of gases should allow plants to grow under near-natural conditions. One method is to grow the plants in open-top chambers into which gases are carefully metered, or where plants receiving ambient, polluted air are compared with controls receiving air that has been scrubbed of pollutants.

Unpolluted rain is slightly acidic, with a pH close to 5.6, because the  $CO_2$  dissolved in it produces the weak acid,  $H_2CO_3$ . Dissolution of  $NO_x$  and  $SO_2$  in water droplets in the atmosphere causes the pH of rain to decrease to 3–4, and in southern California polluted droplets in fog can be as acidic as pH 1.7. Dilute acidic solution can remove mineral nutrients from leaves, depending on the age of the leaf and the integrity of the cuticle and surface waxes. The total annual contributions to the soil of acid from acid rain (*wet deposition*) and from particulate matter falling on the soil plus direct absorption from the atmosphere (*dry deposition*) may reach 1.0–3.0 kg

 $\rm H^+$  per hectare in parts of Europe and the northeastern United States. In soils that lack free calcium carbonate, and therefore are not strongly buffered, such additions of acid can be harmful to plants. Furthermore, the added acid can result in the release of aluminum ions from soil minerals, causing aluminum toxicity. Air pollution is considered to be a major factor in the decline of forests in heavily polluted areas of Europe and North America. There are indications that fast-growing pioneer species are better able to tolerate an acidifying atmosphere than the climax forest trees, possibly because they have a greater potential for assimilation of dissolved NO<sub>x</sub>, and more effective acid buffering of the leaf tissue cell sap (Zeiger 2006).

#### 2 Effect of Pollutants on Pollinators

Wild bees play an essential role in pollination in temperate zones and are considered as major pollinators (Kevan 1999). The diversity of wild plants is maintained properly by bees (Ashmann et al. 2004; Aguilar et al. 2006; Brittain et al. 2010) as well as the agricultural productivity (Klein et al. 2007; Gallai et al.2009; Lenda et al. 2010). A large number of plant species that depend on insect pollination for seed and fruit production (Wilkaniec et al. 2004; Morandin and Winston 2005; Velthuis and Van 2006) may experience reduced pollination and production when the pollinator species are scarce (Ashmann et al. 2004). Therefore, the decrease in number of bees in the prominent regions of the globe (Steffan-Dewenter et al. 2005; Brittain et al. 2010; Biesmeijer et al. 2006) is pretty alarming.

A decrease in bee population has detrimental effects on both crops and wildflower pollination. It has been recognized that heavy metals are a problem that are affecting not only the large parts of the European Union but also have detrimental effects on bees. A study was carried out to investigate whether heavy metal pollution is a potential threat to communities of wild bees by carrying out the comparison in (i) number of species, (ii) their diversity and (iii) percentage abundance as well as natural deaths or mortality of the emerging bees along two gradients that are independent of pollution caused by heavy metals. These studies were carried out at Olkusz (OLK), Poland and Avonmouth (AVO), UK. The study was designed to measure the richness in bee species and their abundance. The concentration of heavy metal was also recorded in the pollen that was collected by a specific bee species in order to measure the pollution being caused by heavy metals. The heavy metals found were cadmium, lead and zinc in varying amounts. As a result of this study, it was found out that with an increase in the concentration of heavy metals, there is a decrease in the number, abundance as well as diversity of wild bees. Above all, an inverse trend was observed among wild bees and pollution caused by heavy metals. Applying protection plans to wild pollinating bee communities in heavy metal-contaminated areas will contribute to integrated land rehabilitation to minimize the impact of pollution on the environment. This will aid in not only the betterment of the environment but will also be helpful for plants and their pollination (Moron et al. 2012).

| S. No. | Pollinators | Heavy metals that effect them | Place reported     |
|--------|-------------|-------------------------------|--------------------|
| 1.     | Butterfly   | Cd, Cu, Fe, Mn and Zn         | Finland            |
| 2.     | Butterfly   | Cd, Cu and Zn                 | Netherlands        |
| 3.     | Bees        | Zn, Cd and Pb                 | Europe, Poland, UK |

 Table 1 Heavy metals affecting the type of pollinator population

There are a number of factors, which decrease the communities of wild bees. One of the major factors includes agricultural intensification (Le Féon et al. 2010; Steffan-Dewenter 2003). Others include use of pesticides (Alston et al. 2007; Brittain et al. 2010), the effect of non-native invasive species (Moron et al. 2009), competition with other populations (Walther-Hellwig et al. 2006; Kenta et al. 2007, spread of pathogens (Colla et al. 2006) and genetic introgression (Kraus et al. 2011). Heavy metals have negative effects not only on one or two species but on all the invertebrate diversity (Syrek et al. 2006; Beyrem et al. 2007; Piola and Johnston 2008) Many studies have figured out the impact of heavy metals on pollinators (Nieminen et al. 2001; Mulder et al. 2005). The following table further explains the type of pollinator and heavy metals affecting its population (Table 1).

#### **3** Soil Pollution

#### 3.1 Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA)

A large number of heavy metals are reported in air, water, soil and plants in the last few decades. Heavy metals have become an environmental concern because of their adverse and detrimental effects on human life (Yang et al. 2007; Ok et al. 2011a, b). Primary source of toxic metals in environment are anthropogenic systems (Ok et al. 2007; Ahmad et al. 2012a, b). Soil is the major sink for inorganic pollutants. Many studies have been conducted to evaluate the extent of heavy metal contamination in soil from anthropogenic sources such as mining and smelting activities, steel and iron manufacturing, incineration of waste, production of cement, phosphate fertilizers and pesticides exhaust from automobiles (Chen et al. 2005; Moon et al. 2011; Ahmad et al. 2012a, b).

A preservative known as Chromated Copper Arsenate (CCA) has been used for the protection of wood products from fungal, bacterial and insect decay (Chirenje et al. 2003; Saxe et al. 2007). CCA treated wood serves as a material for construction of private/public housing, fences, playground equipment, picnic tables, walkways, sound barriers and other outdoors wood products (Kim et al. 2007). In CCA-treated wood, arsenic (As) and copper (Cu) act as an insecticide and a fungicide, respectively, and the chromium (Cr) fixes the As and Cu into the structures of cellulose or hemicellulose, as well as the lignin of the wood (Dawson et al.1991).

There are three forms of CCA; A, B and C which are commercially available. Among them the most popular is type C, which is composed of different constituents; namely CrO<sub>3</sub>, CuO and As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> comprising of 47.5 %, 18.5 % and 35.0 % of C type, respectively (APWA 1991). However, in many countries, usage of woods treated with CCA has been banned. The wood treated with CCA leaches Cr, Cu and As into the surrounding environment, thereby increasing the levels of Cr, Cu and As in the soil thus causing negative effects on the environment and humans (Hingston et al. 2001; Solo-Gabriele et al. 2002; Gezer et al. 2005; Kumpiene et al. 2008). Hence, remediation of CCA contaminated soils is necessary to eliminate risks to human and the environment. Several remediation techniques are being used for soil contaminated with heavy metals (Isoyama and Wada 2007; Ok et al. 2011a). Due to several economic and logistic reasoning as well as possible detrimental effects on the ecological equilibrium and sustainable restoration, they have been restricted (Cao et al. 2002; Fries et al. 2003; Yang et al.2006).

Recently, Phytoremediation; a plant based technique for remediation is found out to be cost effective and an environment friendly method of removing heavy metals from the soil (Hakeem et al. 2015). Phytoremediation can be categorized into two types:

- (i) Phytoextraction, which is the removal of heavy metals by aboveground parts of the plant,
- (ii) Phytostabilization, which is the reduction of heavy metal mobility and availability around the rhizospheric soil.

Three categories of hyper accumulators, indicators and excluders are made depending upon the ability of plants with medium to absorb, accumulate and tolerate heavy metals (Usman et al. 2012). Specifically, plant species that aid in being hyper accumulators can accumulate extreme levels of heavy metals. Studies show that plant species that are native to a particular area can survive better under the stress of toxic metal relative to invasive plant species (Yoon et al. 2006). In the recent decades, contamination of heavy metals by Cr, Cu and As in soil that is adjacent to CCA treated wood has received great attention. A study was carried out to determine the level of pollution based on the concentration of aforementioned heavy metals to evaluate the remediation capacity of plant species native to that particular area grown in CCA contaminated site (Usman et al. 2012). It was noted that the concentrations of metal decrease as the distance between structure of wood treated with CCA and the point of sampling was increased. The results revealed that *Iris ensata* is a hyper accumulator with the highest Cr accumulation (Usman et al. 2012).

#### 3.2 Nitrogen; Its Role Towards Plant Growth

One of the most important components of global change is increase in atmospheric nitrogen (N). This increase is threatening both the structure as well as the functioning of the ecosystem. The global N cycle is dominated by anthropogenic activity (Galloway et al. 2004) and it has been predicted that the emission and deposition

rates of N will be doubled by 2050, greatly increasing the number of regions that are potentially receiving damaging levels of N inputs (Bobbink et al. 2010; Galloway et al. 2004). By understanding the responses of ecosystems and the mechanisms by which these mechanisms are driven, these responses continue to be of major importance for the conservation of ecosystems; both natural and semi-natural types, biodiversity preservation and ecosystem services sustainability. Over the least two decades, a number of studies are carried out to understand the N deposition through application of N to experimental plots. Along with these studies, certain survey studies evaluated the patterns of ecosystem response along gradients of N deposition in space and time (Dupre et al. 2010; Maskell et al. 2010) to reveal the diverse impacts on ecosystem structure and function. The major impacts are:

- (i) Accumulation of nitrogen causing biodiversity declines through/by the expansion of nitrophilous species and competitive exclusion of others;
- (ii) Accumulation of  $NH_4^+$  ions that lead to toxic effects on sensitive species in ecosystems where  $NO_3$  is usually the dominant N form (Stevens et al. 2011);
- (iii) Acidification of soil, cation depletion of the base and enhanced toxic metals availability (e.g. Al<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>, Fe<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>) which can result in the reduction of health of plants and productivity, alteration in community composition, and cause declines in richness of; and
- (iv) Increase in the susceptibility of plants to secondary stresses including increased herbivory, reduced resistance to attack by pathogen or increase in susceptibility to drought or freezing damage (Phoenix et al. 2012).

The role of deposition of N as of driver of biodiversity loss has recently been reviewed (Bobbink et al. 2010; Dise et al. 2011). However, there are certain limitations to these studies as well. Hence, the assessment of deposition of N threat can also be facilitated by the analysis of long-term experiments, across multiple numbers of ecosystems, application of techniques that adequately stimulate deposition of N and also employing realistic doses of N. Deposition of atmospheric nitrogen (N) is becoming global threat to biodiversity and ecosystem function. Much of the current understanding of deposition of N impact comes from manipulation of field studies, although interpretation may require caution where simulations of N deposition (in terms of dose, application rate and N form) have limited realism (Phoenix et al. 2012).

# 3.3 Stone Crushing

The stone crushing units and the traffic associated with it generates a large number of air pollutants. These pollutants degrade the quality of air in the specific area. The two main operations include:

- Mining or quarrying operations
- Crushing operations

These two operations are responsible for high load that causes pollution. But a lack in the environmental governance in both of the above-mentioned operations has resulted in degradation of environment to a considerable amount around the locations where the stone crushing industry is set up (ES 1998).

The particulates resealed by the above mentioned activities vary a lot in their sizes and weights. They remain as a part of air for varying time length and affect plants and human beings differently (Mishra 2013). Stone dust acts as 'primary aerosol' imparting a detrimental effect not only on the environment but also on people and other flora and fauna. The examples include change in the productivity and pH of soil, haze formation leading to reduced visibility in the surrounding areas, habitat destruction, damage to natural resources like important and valuable vegetation and wild lives and at last but not the least, promotion of spreading of many diseases (Semban and Chandrasekhar 2000; Das and Nandi 2002; Mishra 2004).

A number of studies have been carried out to study the effect of petro-coke, cement, coal and dust, fly ash, automobile exhaust and other air-borne particulates on many parameters that include physiological and morphological status in different plants (Singh and Rao 1980; Prasad and Rao 1981; Naidoo and Chirkoot 2004; Prajapati and Tripathi 2008).

# 3.4 Phthalic Acid Esters (PAEs)

Phthalic Acid Esters (PAEs) accumulation in the plants and soil in agricultural land near a recycling site of electronic waste in east China has become an increasingly evident threat to the quality of neighboring environment and human health. Collection of soil and plant samples from the land under different utilizations including fallow plots, plots for vegetable, alfalfa plots for green manure, fallow plot under long term flooding as well as under alternating dry and wet periods, along with the samples of plants for relative plots was done. Assessment for health risks was conducted on target PAEs, which are known as analogs of typical environmental estrogens based on their accumulation in edible vegetable parts. The potential damage that the target compounds of PAE may pose to human health should be taken into account in further comprehensive risk assessments of recycling sites areas of electronic waste. Moreover, alfalfa removed substantial amounts of PAEs from the soil, and its use can be considered a good strategy for in situ remediation of PAEs. Recycling of electronic wastes and dismantling has become an important activity of industrial sector to the local economy in many areas. However, improper and arbitrary methods of recycling have resulted in multiple contamination of environment proceeded by heavy metals, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins/dibenzo-furans (PCDD/Fs), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), and polybrominateddiphenyl ethers (PBDEs). DnBP, DEHP and DnOP are supposed to be the three most frequently detected phthalic acid ester (PAE) compounds in most of the electrical wastes, which explains the discovery of elevated PAE compounds in agricultural soils in recent years (Ma et al. 2013).

#### 3.5 Heavy Metals

Soil pollution with heavy metals is a worldwide environmental problem. Phytoremediation through phytoextraction and phytostabilization appears to be promising technology for the remediation of polluted soil. It is important to emphasize strongly that the ultimate goal of remediation of heavy metals from the soil is to reduce their mobility and bioavailability. Quality of soil is defined as the capacity of a given soil to perform its ecological functions. Microbial properties of soil are increasingly being used as biological indicator of soil quality due to their quick response, increased sensitivity and capacity to provide information that integrates many factors of environment. Indeed, properties of microbes are among ecologically most relevant indicators of soil quality. Consequently, monitoring of microbial activity is often carried out during phytoremediation of heavy metal processes. However, microbial properties of soil are highly dependent on the context and difficult to interpret. For better interpretation of properties of microbial activity of soil, they may be grouped within categories of higher relevance of ecology such as functions of soil, health attributes of ecosystem and its services (Maria et al. 2012).

Pollution of soil by heavy metals is a worldwide important environmental problem. Anthropogenic activities result in pollution of soil with toxicity of heavy metals. Metallurgy, mining, agriculture, tanning, disposal of waste, fossil fuel combustion and other human activities are responsible for the enormous heavy metals amount and metalloids presently found in our soils. Among these, the most frequent heavy metals found in polluted soil are lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), copper (Cu), selenium (Se), zinc (Zn) and nickel (Ni) (Kavamura and Esposito 2010; Hakeem et al. 2015).

The functionality of soil ecosystem is interfered by both inorganic and organic pollutants but special concern is the concentration of heavy metal due to their immutable nature i.e. they do not undergo any biologically or chemically induced degradation. They are highly persistent in the soil. Moreover, heavy metals are potentially harmful to all biota and tend to accumulate in the food chain (Maria et al. 2012).

Unfortunately, traditional way of management of polluted soil with heavy metals using a variety of physicochemical remediation methods (approaches to conventional remedial often involve excavation and washing, landfilling, replacement of soil with clean material, or capping the soil with an impermeable layer to reduce exposure to pollutants) has proven to be economically unattractive, particularly for sites that are largely polluted. Most importantly, some of the technologies that include physiochemical engineering result in deterioration to considerable level of the soil ecosystem. At times, they cause even more damage to soil ecosystem than the pollutants themselves and do not allow reshaping of soil ecosystem naturally. It has been noted that one of our most important resources is soil with a value of estimated \$20 trillion (Maria et al. 2012).

Currently, development sectors are focusing on the environment friendly and cost effective methods for the remediation of soil that is polluted with heavy metals. The use of microorganisms for the detoxification or removal of pollutants, also known as, bioremediation is a well-known low-cost option for *in-situ* remediation of polluted soils (Maria et al. 2012).

Nonetheless, pertaining to the remediation of soils polluted with heavy metals, microorganisms have some important limitations:

- They have the ability of heavy metal toxification by valence transformation, precipitation of extracellular material or volatilization, but they cannot remove metals from sites that is polluted. Therefore, it is not a long term, large-scale solution to the highlighting problem of heavy metal pollution in the soil. On the contrary, plants have the ability to extract heavy metals from the soil theoretically rendering them clean (Maria et al. 2012).
- Furthermore, during remediation processes based on plants, plants have the ability to improve the chemical, physical and biological properties of the polluted soil by increasing the porosity, prevention of erosion, addition of nutrients and promising growth of microbes.

## 3.6 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are pollutants of ubiquitous nature with known carcinogenic and mutagenic effects. Several studies showed that PAHs are taken up by plants grown in contaminated soils. Many factors, like the initial concentration of soil PAH, soil physical and chemical properties, the microbial population, and physiological characteristics affect the contaminants uptake. In plants, it is generally agreed upon that sorption controls uptake of chemicals. Carbonaceous materials like unburnt coal, black carbon (soot and charcoal), and kerogen have a great capacity to adsorb hydrophobic pollutants like PAHs. Hence they can control the bioavailability of PAHs (Jakob et al. 2012).

Since a large amount of money is required in order to carry out the excavation of contaminated soil, the *in-situ* stabilization of organic pollutants in soils and sediments has attracted increasing attention in the recent years. The addition of small amount of AC (activated carbon) has been revealed to decrease the bioavailable concentrations of organic pollutants. AC is a processed form of charcoal with a high sorption capacity, likely because of its chemical structure, large surface area and high porosity. Strong sorption of pollutants to AC has been shown to decrease the accessibility of pollutants to microorganisms. In order to check the bioavailability of organic components for soil fauna, earthworms are often used. It is suggested that AC reduces the biota to sediment or soil accumulation factor (BSAF). Little attention has been directed towards the possible toxic effects of AC on sediment or soil dwelling organisms. In a study, Jonker et al. (2009)found ecological toxicity affects of AC in AC-water and AC-enriched sediment systems. However, in two

other studies, changes were observed in the lipid concentration in different plants affected with AC.

In addition to that, two other studies revealed the possibility that AC results in the reduction of the bioavailable concentration of essential substances leading to the nutrient deficiency for soil and sediment organisms as well as for plants. The physical, microbial and chemical characteristics of the soil may also be affected by AC. Additionally, this may also have harmful or adverse effects on plant and soil organisms. A study was carried out which involved the investigation of AC performance (powder and granular) amendments as an *in-situ* technique for stabilization of soil that is contaminated. The study involved the elucidation of AC impact on the uptake of PAH by earthworms and plants in an urban soil contaminated with PAH. It was also noticed whether the addition of AC had toxic effects on plants and earthworms and whether or not the different kinds of AC affected the chemical and physical parameters of soil. This is, till now, the first field study for the investigation of *in-situ* sequestration capacity of AC in a soil contaminated with PAH as well as the effects of different AC amendments on plants and earthworms (Jakob et al. 2012).

#### 3.7 Zinc; Afront Line Pollutant

Zinc (Zn) pollution is very prominent and plays an important role in plant growth. A study was conducted on the interaction between Zn pollution and rhizosphere microorganisms as well as plants. The influence of two strains of bacteria isolated from a Zn polluted soil was tested. Zn polluted soil affected the growth of plant and the efficiency of symbiotic native ArbuscularMycorrhizal Fungi (AMF). Zn tolerance was exhibited by two strains of bacteria cultivated under increasing levels of Zn in the medium. However, strain B-I showed higher Zn tolerance than strain B-II at the two highest levels of Zn in the medium. Results revealed that strain B-I consistently enhanced growth of plant, phosphorus and nitrogen accumulation and number of nodules and infection of mycorrhiza, which demonstrated activity of its plant growth promoting (PGP). It was recorded that the strain B-I produces IAA and accumulate 5.6 % of Zn from the growing medium. The increased nutrition and growth of plants dually inoculated with the AMF and B-I bacterium was observed at three levels of Zn. This effect can also be related to the stimulation of symbiotic structures and decreased concentration of Zn in tissues of plants. The amount of Zn acquired per unit weight of root was reduced by each of these strains of bacteria or AMF and particularly by the mixed AMF-bacterium inocula. This clearly explains the alleviation of toxicity of Zn by selected microorganisms and indicates that metal-adapted bacteria and AMF play a key role in enhancing growth of plant in soil contaminated with Zn (Vivas et al. 2006).

Zn is an essential metal for normal growth of plant and its development since it is a constituent of many enzymes as well as proteins. However, increased concentrations of this metalis toxic to many living organisms. Elevated Zn concentrations exist in many agricultural soils due to management practices that include sludge sewage application or usage of manure of animal and from activities that involve mining. Many evidences suggest that microorganisms are far more sensitive to stress caused by heavy metals than plants or animals (Vivas et al. 2006).

In recent years, several studies have revealed the harmful effects caused by metals in increased concentrations on diversity of microbes and activities carried out by them in the soil. Zinc occurs only as the divalent cation  $Zn^{+2}$ , which does not undergo the redox changes under the biological conditions. It is a component in many enzymes and proteins that involve DNA-binding e.g. zinc-finger proteins, which exist in bacteria. As far as humans are concerned, toxicity of zinc may be based on zinc-induced deficiency of copper. However, the toxicity of zinc is much less as compared to copper. In *E.coli*, zinc toxicity is similar to that of nickel, cobalt and copper. It is observed that AMF are microorganisms of soil that establish mutual symbiotic relation with majority of the roots of higher plants, providing a direct physical link between plant and soil roots. They are found in usually all habitats and all climates. Thus, changes in population of AMF diversity produced by the presence of increased amounts of metals are expected to interfere with the possible beneficial effects of this association (Vivas et al. 2006).

The mycorrhizal symbiosis generally occurs in the presence of many microorganisms and this hypothesis is supported by abundant amount of literature. The literature further reveals that interaction of some of the microbes is specific and there are certain ways of influencing the mycorrhizal relationship and its effects on growth of plants. Thus, the microorganisms are associated with complement activity of mycorrhizae. One of these groups of bacteria, the so-called rhizobacteria which enhances the growth of plants known as plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) has been reported by a number of others to have interacted with AMF. The final effect of microorganisms of soil that includes AMF, on the development of plants is the result of interactions among different microbial components that are involved. In contrast to that, only a few studies focus on the interactions between PGPR and AMF along with heavy metals as source of disturbance of soil. A significant increase in the growth of plant has been observed in the presence of heavy metals that include lead, zinc and nickel. However, the manipulation of combination of beneficial microorganisms is dependent upon the proper understanding of ecosystem in order to apply a suitable selection of microbes. In a study, the inoculation effect with two indigenous isolates of bacteria on a plantwas observed. Along with that, Zn tolerance on AMF was studied in terms of growth of plants, uptake of nutrients, acquisition of zinc and development of symbiosis. The strains of microbes used were isolated from areas contaminated with Zn for a long term. Microorganisms were assayed in single or dual coinoculation artificially in the soil contaminated with a range of Zn levels. Production of bacterial Indole Acetic Acid (IAA), ability of zinc biosorption and the number of viable bacterial cells at increasing levels of Zn were also determined (Vivas et al. 2006).

# 4 Air Pollution

#### 4.1 Benzene

Benzene; a volatile organic compound (VOC), is extracted from industries of petroleum and used widely as an additive or intermediate or as a solvent in many manufacturing industries. Ambient air pollution problems can be caused by the emission of benzene from many sources, even though several organizations and countries have standard guidelines on benzene concentrations (PCD 2007). It is found that concentration of benzene in the atmosphere is higher than the local standard. In addition to this, 9 cohort and 13 case control studies confirmed that benzene can clearly induce many types of cancers including acute myelogenous leukemia. Many researchers have classified benzene in IA group, which is composed of carcinogens having high potential in human body by IARC. Other diseases that are likely to be caused by benzene include allergies, asthma, dizziness, tremors, eye irritation, restlessness and disorders of nervous system. Environment also has a tendency to accumulate and store benzene. Studies revealed that some plant species have the ability to take up gaseous benzene through the automata and wax on leaf surface (Treesubsuntorn et al. 2013).

A recent study showed that even when plants are grown under dark conditions, the plant could still take benzene up via cuticular wax because at night the stomata are closed. Many scientists found benzene accumulation in the cuticular wall. These days, for the treatment of benzene, activated carbon is widely used. However, there is a problem in the secondary waste disposal as well as high control cost. Use of plant leaf material for adsorption of benzene is beneficial in a way of a low cost adsorbent (Treesubsuntorn et al. 2013).

# 4.2 Ozone

Another harmful air pollutant is the tropospheric ozone ( $O_3$ ) that has negative impact on the growth and development of plants. Current concentration of  $O_3$  is decreasing the productivity of forest and crop yields. Future  $O_3$  will increase if the current emission rate continues. When data from different studies were compared, it was noted that ambient  $O_3$  decreases the seed number by nearly 16 % as well as fruit number and fruit weight by 9 % and 22 % respectively as compared to charcoal filtered air. Additionally, germination of pollen and tube growth were also decreased by elevated concentration of  $O_3$  compared to charcoal filtered air. Relative to ambient air, fumigation with  $O_3$  between 70 and 100 ppb decreased fruit yield by 27 % and individual seed weight by 18 %. Reproductive development of both  $C_3$  and  $C_4$ plants was found to be sensitive to elevated  $O_3$  and lifecycle, flowering class and reproductive growth habit did not significantly affect a plant's response to elevated  $O_3$  for many components of reproductive development. However, elevated  $O_3$  decreased weight of fruit and its number significantly in indeterminate plants, and had no effect on these parameters in determinate plants. While gaps in knowledge remain about the effects of  $O_3$  on plants with different growth habits, reproductive strategies and photosynthetic types, the evidence strongly suggests that detrimental effects of  $O_3$  on reproductive growth and development are compromising current crop yields and the fitness of native plant species (Ainsworth and Leisner 2012).

Studies reveal that development of sexual reproduction is a critical stage in the plant's life cycle and many other stages of reproductive development are sensitive to this ozone. Ozone is basically a secondary pollutant that is formed by the oxidation via photochemical pathway of methane, carbon monoxide and other volatile compounds that are organic in nature (VOCs) in the presence of oxides of nitrogen (NOx). During warm and sunny weather, the formation of  $O_3$  is the greatest, which coincides with times of maximum plant growth and reproductive development. Therefore it is considered as one of the most damaging tropospheric air pollutants. A considerable increase in the concentration of  $O_3$  is observed since the industrial revolution in past 60 years. It is likely that the concentration will further increase by 10–30 parts per billion (ppb) by 2100 if the practices in Northern hemisphere are not put to an end (Ainsworth and Leisner 2012).

This increase is substantial considering the current tropospheric concentration less than 40 ppb in most parts of the world. These concentrations are believed to increase and exceed the international environmental criteria for protection of crop as well as natural vegetation and human health. Ozone enters the plants through their stomata, which is also the site of carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  uptake. Once taken up by the plant,  $O_3$  rapidly reacts to form other reactive oxygen species (ROS), including hydrogen peroxide, singlet oxygen and hydroxyl radicals. Increased levels of ROS can lead to programmed cell death. ROS influx can also change the redox potential, levels of hormone and peroxidation of lipids in the apoplastic and intercellular spaces within plant cells. Reduction in photosynthesis and conductance by stomata in leaves are reduced by chronic exposure to O<sub>3</sub> that leads to reduced production in biomass and reproductive crop output. However, it still remains unclear that what proportion of decrease in the reproductive output is caused by direct damage to reproductive processes such as initiation of flower, development of ovary and pollen and abortion of seed as opposed to damage to the vegetation that subsequently reduces availability of assimilate to reproductive development. Ozone can have a direct effect on the reproductive structures of plant i.e., stylar and stigmatal surfaces, anthers, pollens, floral sites, seeds as well as fruits. The entry of O<sub>3</sub> via apoplastic space gives rise to the production of ROS, which eventually causes changes in surfaces of stigma and membranes of cells. The ability of pollen to germinate stigmatal surface is also affected by ROS. Moreover, a change is mediated by ROS in the cellular redox environment that can potentially lead to changes in the growth of pollen tubes, which is critical for embryo fertilization. Ozone  $(O_3)$  affects all the reproductive growth and development of plants. Nearly a decade ago, effect of O<sub>3</sub> on reproductive development of plant was reviewed, but recent quantitative assessments have focused on the influence of O3 on growth and development of vegetative parts of plants or yield of crop. The complex nature of O<sub>3</sub> affects the vegetative and reproductive structures, a range of compensatory mechanisms available to plants with different habits of reproductive growth, the dependence of development stage of plants on sensitivity level and the consequences of environmental stresses, in addition, make it difficult to generalize  $O_3$  effects on reproductive development (Black et al. 2010). Still, understanding  $O_3$  effects on the reproductive development has significant ecological and agronomic consequences that include securing food resources for the future and ensuring the fecundity and composition of species of native flora. For this verification, meta-analysis was used to test the following:

- 1. Moderate increase in  $O_3$  is enough to cause decrease in reproductive growth parameters in plants with increasing  $O_3$  resulting in more severe effects on reproductive growth
- 2. Plants exposed to increased levels of  $O_3$  with additional abiotic stresses will not experience a larger decrease in growth of reproductive parts and output when compared to plants that are exposed to elevated  $O_3$  alone
- 3. Less sensitivity will be shown by C4 plants towards  $O_3$  due to lower conductance in stomata and  $O_3$  uptake
- 4. At last, determinate plants with decreased flexibility in flowering will have a limited compensatory response for loss of reproductive sites, rendering them more sensitive to increased  $O_3$  concentration than indeterminate plants (Ainsworth and Leisner 2012).

#### 4.2.1 Tropospheric Ozone; Deeper Roots

Tropospheric ozone is currently considered to be the most important air pollutant affecting vegetation and a further increase in background ozone concentration over the coming century throughout the northern hemisphere has been predicted as a result of large increases in emissions of precursor molecules from transport and industry. Summer mean ozone concentrations across Europe are expected to reach 40-60 ppb by 2030 and some models predict that annual mean ozone concentrations could exceed 75 ppb over much of the northern hemisphere by 2100. Several studies have shown that responses of plants are better related to accumulate stomatal fluxes of ozone than to the external ozone concentration, and the flux method is being used by the Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution (LRTAP Convention) to assess the risk of ozone damage to vegetation across Europe. Ozone flux models currently takes into account the effect of climatic conditions such as temperature, vapor pressure deficit (VPD) and photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), soil moisture content, and plant growth stage on stomatal opening, and thus are well suited to modeling ozone effects in a changing climate. Changes in precipitation patterns are likely to occur in the next few decades, and although there are predictions of increased humidity in some areas, it is likely that there will be reduced soil moisture across much of Europe. Predictions of future ozone impacts therefore need to take into account the modifying effects of prolonged ozone exposure on plant responses to soil moisture (Hayes et al. 2012).

A generalized flux model has been described by Emberson et al. (2000), which is a multiplicative model based on a Jarvis approach using temperature, VPD, PAR, phenology, ozone and soil moisture as model inputs. However, few studies have included consideration of soil moisture when measuring ozone effects even though soil moisture is a component of the stomatal flux model. In most cases, calculations of stomatal flux have been performed for experiments involving wellwatered (WW) plants where restriction of stomatal conductance due to reduced soil moisture was not thought to occur. Until recently, it has been assumed that reduced soil moisture is associated with stomatal closure, leading to reduced ozone uptake, providing some protection to plants from the negative effects of ozone exposure. Such an effect was commonly reported in earlier studies for some species using relatively high ozone treatments, for example in wheat (Triticum aestivum; 80 ppb), tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum; 68 ppb) and common ash (Fraxinus excelsior; 150 ppb). Although the assumption that reduced soil moisture protects plants from ozone exposure is largely accepted, there are a growing number of reports where the reduction in stomatal conductance due to drought has not been as large as expected, particularly in the presence of ozone, and to date these effects have been largely overlooked. For example, in the field, with 8-h mean ozone concentrations of 51 ppb, ozone-induced visible injury in black cherry (Prunus serotina) was greater at drier sites than at wetter sites, with higher stomatal conductance measured in the drier than the wetter sites for both black cherry and white ash. Although no mechanism was presented, the authors hypothesized that either the trees had acclimatized to the drier conditions or that water availability was not low enough to induce stomatal closure. In a different study, severe drought stress protected birch (Betula pendula) from ozone injury as predicted, but under less severe drought-stress enhanced ozone damage was observed compared to that of WW plants using ozone concentrations 1.89 ambient. Again, the authors suggested no mechanism to explain this effect. The ability of drought to protect natural vegetation plants from ozone injury using ozone concentrations of up to ca. 200 ppb was found to be species-specific in a study by Bungener et al. (1998). While some species showed reduced ozone-induced injury symptoms due to drought-induced stomatal closure (e.g. white clover; Trifolium repens), for other species there was either no stomatal closure or an increase in stomatal opening in the presence of drought (e.g. false oat grass; Arrhenaterum elatius).

Some recent studies have shown that interactions between soil moisture and ozone can occur which could explain some of these published anomalies. For example, a decreased ability of stomata to close in response to drought in the presence of increasing ozone exposure has been demonstrated for ca. Ten grassland species including *Leontodon hispidus* and *Dactylis glomerata* and the widespread grasses *Anthoxanthu modoratum*, *Lolium perenne* and *Phleum pratense*. This has been attributed to a reduced responsiveness of stomata following elevated ozone exposure, and in particular an ozone-induced decrease in sensitivity to abscisic acid, which is produced in roots as a response to drought and transported to shoots in the xylem, where it induces stomatal closure via a network of chemical messengers.

The increasingly large number of 'anomalies' where drought-induced stomatal closure and protection from ozone-induced injuries does not happen suggests that this effect may possibly be fairly widespread among vegetation.

# 5 Nanoparticles; a New Threat

Among all the factors that influence the quality of soil, biological indicators are reported to be critically important because organisms of soil influence directly the processes in soil ecosystem, especially the decomposition of organic matter of the soil and nutrient cycling. Hence, any factor that affects the biomass of soil microbes, their activity and populations would necessarily affect the quality of soil and its sustainability. At present, an increasing number of engineered nanoparticles (ENPs), that are employed for environmental and industrial applications or are formed as by-products of activities by humans, are finding their way into soils. The antimicrobial activity of these ENPs has been studied extensively with human pathogenic bacteria. Similarly, studies also exist on the effect of ENPs on beneficial microbes in vitro under controlled conditions. But very little information is available on how these ENPs affect microbial communities in soil under field conditions. According to some of the published data, among ENPs, the fullerenes and their derivatives are less toxic whereas metal oxide ENPs and small sized metals pose detrimental effect to the microbial communities in the soil. However, under field conditions, organic matter of the soil and its related components, like fulvic and humic acids, could possibly negate the toxic effects of these ENPs through a number of mechanisms. Also, the resilience as well as resistance of microbial communities of soil to such perturbations cannot be discounted (Dinesh et al. 2012).

The quality of soil is usually defined as the capacity of a soil to function, within natural or managed ecosystem boundaries, to sustain plant and animal productivity, maintain or enhance water and air quality, and support human health and habitat. Among the factors that influence quality of soil, biological indicators are reported as critically most important because soil organisms have a direct influence on the ecosystem of soil processes, especially in soil decomposition of the organic matter and the nutrient cycling. Therefore, the protection of microbial biomass of the soil and its diversity is among the major challenges for use of sustainable resource. It is because the increased levels of microbial diversity and biomass means greater turnover in the nutrients and disease soil suppressiveness. The opposite is true for a sick soil with low nutrient and reserves of carbon and greater levels of contaminants that is caused by the presence of chemicals of xenobiotic source or other alteration in the environment of soil. As far as the xenobiotics are concerned, there are staggering number of new nanoparticles being engineered for application in the industrial and environmental sector or are formed as a by-product of human activity which are already finding their way into the soils. While the concentrations of most of the ENPs in the environments still remain unknown, exposure modeling suggests that the soil could act out as a major ENPs sink that is released into the environment.

# 5.1 Engineered Nanoparticles and Their Toxicity to Microorganisms

Engineered nanoparticles are artificially manufactured particles that are engineered by man because of their specific properties in the field of nanotechnology in terms of properties, size, behavior etc. The question to the answer that why ENPs built material have different electrical, optical, magnetic, mechanical and chemical properties from their bulk counterparts are that in this range of size, quantum effects start to reveal their predominate nature and there is an increased surface-area-to-volume ratio (sa/vol).

The sa/vol of most materials increases gradually as their particles become smaller in size, which results in the increased adsorption of the surrounding atoms and bring about the changes in their behavior and properties, subsequently. Once these particles are small enough, they work under the principles of quantum laws of mechanics. Suddenly, the particles that have been reduced to nano-scale display extremely different properties compared to what they exhibit on macro-scale. This enables unique applications e.g. opaque substances become transparent (copper), the materials that are stable becomes combustible (aluminum), materials that are inert start acting as catalysts (platinum), insulators act as conductors (silicon), some turn to liquids when kept at room temperatures (gold) (Hristozov and Malsch 2009).

ENPs can also be made up of single elements like carbon (C) or silver (Ag) or elements/molecules mixture. ENPs are often classified on the basis of their chemical composition, supplemented with size or morphological characteristics. Many ENPs are described viz. oxides (TiO<sub>2</sub>, CuO, FeO<sub>2</sub>, ZnO, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, CeO<sub>2</sub>, SiO<sub>2</sub>), Fullerenes (grouping of Buckminister fullerenes, carbon nano tubes (CNTs), nanocones etc.), ENPs metals (elemental Ag, Au, Fe etc.) and complex compounds like Co-Zn-Fe oxide and quantum dots are often coated with a polymer e.g. cadmiumselenide (CdSe) and polymers of organic compounds (dendrimers, polystyrene etc.). The increasing entry of the ENPs will lead to their accumulation in soil inevitably, which raise concerns about their potential adverse effects on the microbial activity of soil and its diversity. At present very little is known about the effect of these ENPs on the microbial community of the soil. They may have an impact on the microorganisms of soil via the following:

- 1. a direct effect (toxicity)
- 2. changes in the bioavailability of nutrients or toxins
- 3. indirect affects resulting from their interaction with natural compounds of organic nature
- 4. interaction with toxic organic compounds, which would alleviate or amplify their toxicity (Simonet and Valcarcel 2009).

Mechanisms of toxicity have not yet been completely elucidated for most ENPs. The possible mechanisms include protein oxidation, genotoxicity, energy transduction interruption, formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the release of constituents that are toxic in nature. However, close contact is necessary for disruption of membrane to occur and it is likely that NPs cross into the cytoplasm although accumulation within the cytoplasm, probably after the disruption of membrane is often observed. It was also noted that the antibacterial activity possessed by NPs might involve ROS production as well as NPs accumulation in the cytoplasm or on the outer membranes. Structural changes may also be caused by ENPs on the microbial surface of cells that may eventually lead to cell death. It is, therefore, apparent that ENPs stimulate the production of ROS in organisms and cause damage in possibly every cell component (Bhatt and Tripathi 2011).

# 6 Role of Forests

European forests are facing significant changes in climate, which, in interaction with changes in the quality of air may affect significantly the productivity of forest, stand composition and sequestration of carbon in both soil and vegetation. Gaps in the identified knowledge and research needs include:

- (i) Interactions between changes in quality of air (concentrations of trace gases), climate and other site factors in response to ecosystem of forest.
- (ii) Significance of biotic processes in response to system
- (iii) Up scaling and understanding diagnostic and mechanistic tools
- (iv) Need for empirical research and unifying modeling for synthesis.

The forest ecosystems are crucial ecologically which cover 30 % of the land area of earth. Globally it has been recorded that forests store more than 805 of all the terrestrial carbon (C) aboveground and more than 70 % of all-organic soil carbon. Overall, currently global C sinks are considered to be forests whereas croplands are the sources because of more frequent disturbance in soil associated with practices involving agriculture. By the changes in photosynthesis, soil respiration and respiration, it will be determined whether forests will remain carbon sinks, affecting the net ecosystem of carbon flux. Such processes are strongly affected by the changes in:

- (a) Quality of air comprising of deposition of nitrogen (N), atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentration, ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) exposure and fine particulates/ aerosols
- (b) Warming of climate with effects on water availability
- (c) Soil acidity and availability of non-N nutrients (De Vries and Posch 2010)

These drivers affect sequestration of carbon in both above as well as below ground biomass in the forest ecosystem. Insights into the multi-factorial, influences on quality of air and changes in the climate, is crucial to provide a robust evidence base to policy makers. Such influences arise from the resources of fossil energy combustion and changes in land-use (i.e. clear cutting of forest and its burning), altogether releasing  $CO_2$ , oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and other climate related trace gases. Emissions from forests add to those from intense practices of agriculture, specifically ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) from livestock (Matyssek et al. 2012).

Additionally, natural emissions of organic compounds, which are volatile in nature (VOCs) from vegetation, increase the mixture of reactants in the atmosphere. With the accumulation of trace gases, there might be an increase in their reactivity, if there is an enhancement in the isolation as an effect of warming atmosphere. Under increased irradiance, some of the reactants become precursors to the formation of secondary pollutants such as  $O_3$ . With its concentration well above the levels of pre-industrial era and given the recent decrease in the emissions of sulfur in Europe and North America,  $O_3$  is regarded as the pollutant of air potentially most detrimental to the vegetation (Matyssek et al. 2012).

On such grounds, currently, forests face significant pressures from changes in climate and the pollution in air. Until recently, global dynamic vegetation models predicted an increase in the global productivity and terrestrial sequestration of carbon in response to the climate shifts and concentration of  $CO_2$ . There have been many criticisms on these studies for over estimating the potential feedback of carbon climate because accumulation of carbon may be constrained by nutrients particularly by nitrogen (N) and by the negative impacts of increased exposure of  $O_3$ . Ozone may cause a limitation on substantial global scale by the end of this century with consequences of significant value for radiative forcing in the atmosphere by elevated levels of  $CO_2$  (Matyssek et al. 2012).

## 7 Future Prospects

#### 7.1 Synthetic Soil

In a study, the synthetic soil prepared from sand, organic material and topsoil was treated with magnetite powder for the stimulation of contaminated soil. Two soil types were chosen to prepare six soil treatments. Low contamination treatments, high contamination treatments and control. Above all, the contaminated soil had a greater decrease in the susceptibility of magnetism than the control and the difference in magnetic susceptibility (MS) decrease between the treatments was found to be statistically significant for both types of soil. Possible reasons for the overall decrease in MS were explored and among them trace uptake of elements by plants probably had a minor contribution as the differences in concentration of Fe and other trace elements (Mn, Ni) between treatments were not significant statistically. In soils, weakly or oxidized magnetic minerals, which include maghemite, hematite and goethite, were common after the growth of plants, when compared with the untreated soil. Overall decrease in MS can be contributed by transformation of minerals. The result reveals that exposure of contaminants of Fe can affect the growth of plants and suggest that growth of plant can measurably change the magnetic properties of their growth media. While thepotential variables affecting growth of plant were controlled as much as possible, but the possibility that biotic and abiotic chemical reactions could have affected the results, remains there. Thus, continuous

monitoring of the changes in chemical and magnetic properties of soil in more complex soil–plant systems is required (Sapkota et al. 2012).

In soils, for the measurement of toxic metals, magnetic measurements have been used as a proxy. This may also be used to measure the sediments caused by emissions from industries. Magnetic studies of many pollutants have been studied by many researchers (Spassov et al. 2004) as well as toxic metals in polluted soils (Schmidt et al. 2005). In some of the studies, positive correlation between chemical analysis and magnetic measurement of soils and sediments have been presented, and they reveal that the concentration of magnetic minerals, that is present in the samples, exposed to toxic elements from an anthropogenic source is related to the concentration of these elements. In recent years, researchers have extended the application of methods using magnetic streaks in the study of environmental pollution by its integration with other science disciplines, which includes biological applications e.g. the bio-monitoring of air pollution traffic using the tree leaves magnetic properties, and also civil/environmental engineering applications, such as studies of building facades to measure the rates of erosion and monitoring of contamination of urban atmosphere. Microbe mediated magnetite formation was detected precisely by *in-situ* susceptibility of magnetite (Porsch et al. 2010). This study examined the potential of using magnetic methods to monitor the changes in magnetic properties of soil during the growth of plant in soil contaminated with metal and the possible use of these changes as a proxy for monitoring the uptake of toxic metals by plants. It has been found that plant species such as mustard, cucumber and dandelion are metal accumulating and they transport and concentrate metals from the polluted soil into their harvestable parts like above ground shoots and roots, in a process known as phytoextraction. Iron uptake mechanism is also observed in tomato plants. Tomato plants have also been used to understand iron deficiency stress and the metabolic response, the uptake of trace elements with time and the fly ash effect amendments in uptake of trace elements. It was noted by Jensen et al. (2004)that when the fly ash content of soil was increased, tomato plant increased the uptake of Cd, Co and Mo.

#### 7.2 Phytoremediation

Phytoremediation is a cost effective strategy for remediation of soil polluted with heavy metals. Phytoremediation, or the use of green plants in order to clean up the polluted sites, is promising technology for cleaning up of the polluted sites with heavy metals. In some studies, phytoremediation from technical aspect together with its advantages and limitations has also been studied. Different strategies come under the term "phytoremediation" such as:

- 1. Phytoextraction
- 2. Phytostabilization
- 3. Phytodegradation/phytotransformation

- 4. Rhizofiltration/phytofiltration/blastofiltration
- 5. Phytovolatilization
- 6. Rhizoremediation/rhizodegradation/plant-assisted degradation/plant-aided *in-situ* biodegradation/phytostimulation
- 7. Phytosorption
- 8. Phtyocapping (Alkorta et al. 2010)

In case of organic pollutants, rhizoremediation appears to have increased potential because it combines plant's ability in detoxification of xenobiotics (the so-called "green liver") with the capacity of rhizosphere microorganisms in degradation of organic compounds. On the other hand, in case of heavy metals, phytostabilization and phytoextraction are the strategies of choice (Maria et al. 2012).

# 7.3 Activated Carbon

For improvement in the land for better production of plants, certain measures are under practice. The amendment of 2 % powder and granular activated carbon, also known as PAC and GAC, to a soil having moderate contamination of PAH had an impact on the PAH bioaccumulation of plants and earthworms, since AC is known to be a sorbent of strong nature for organic pollutants. Furthermore, AC secondary effects on the earthworms and plants were studied through the uptake of nutrient and growth as well as weight gain and survival. In addition, the effects of AC amendments on the characteristics of soil like capacity of holding water, pH and retention of water curve of soil were also studied. Results revealed that the amendment of 2 % PAC had a negative effect on the growth of plant while the increased GAC helped in the increase of plant growth rate. PAC had a toxic effect on earthworms that was demonstrated by weight loss to a significant level, while the results for GAC were less clear due to ambiguity in the result of a field and a parallel laboratory study. Both kinds of AC significantly reduced biota to soil accumulation factors (BSAFs) of PAHs in earthworms and plants. The GAC reduced the BSAFs of earthworms by an average of 47±44 % and the PAC amendment reduced them by  $72 \pm 19$  %. For the investigated plants, the BSAFs were reduced by  $46\pm36$  % and  $53\pm22$  % by the GAC and PAC, respectively.

# 8 Conclusions

Plants are the most important entities of food chain. Along with the above-mentioned pollutants, a number of other pollutants are also causing damage to the plant population either directly or indirectly. There are certain remedies to be done otherwise it will impose a negative effect on not only the plants but on humans and animals as well. The population of pollinators is also being effected. Certain measures are to be taken to decrease the concentration of heavy metals. Air and soil needs filtering

agents and several check points are also required to control the immense chaos and loss being done to the plants. If this goes untreated or uncontrolled, the future of plants will be in grave danger.

# References

- Aguilar R, Ashworth L, Galetto L, Aizwen MA (2006) Plant reproductive susceptibility to habitat fragmentation: revive and synthesis through a meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 9:968–980
- Ahmad M, Lee SS, Yang JE, Ro HM, Lee YH, Ok YS (2012a) Effects of soil dilution and amendments (mussel shell, cow bone, and biochar) on Pb availability and phytotoxicity in military shooting rnage soil. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 79:225–231
- Ahmad M, Usman AR, Lee SS, Kim SC, Joo JH, Yang JE et al (2012b) Eggshell and coral wastes as low cost sorbents for the removal of Pb2+, Cd2+ and Cu2+ from aqueous solutions. J Ind Eng Chem 18:198–204
- Ainsworth EA, Leisner CP (2012) Quantifying the effects of ozone on plant reproductive growth and development. Glob Chang Biol 18:606–616
- Alkorta I, Becerril JM, Garbisu C (2010) Phytostabilization of metal contaminated soils. Rev Environ Health 25:135–146
- Alston DG, Tepedino VJ, Bradley BA, Toler TR, Griswold TL, Messinger SM (2007) Effects of the insecticide phosmet on solitary bee foraging and nesting in orchards of Capitol Reef National Park, Utah. Environ Entomol 36:811–816
- APWA (1991) American wood-preservers' association book of standards. American Wood-Preservers Association, Grandbury
- Ashmann TL, Knight TM, Streets JA, Amarasekare P, Burd M, Campbell DR et al (2004) Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: ecological and evolutionary causes and consequences. Ecology 85:2408–2421
- Beyrem H, Mahmoundi E, Essidi N, Hedfi A, Boufahaja F, Aissa P (2007) Indiviual and combined effects of cadmium and diesel on a nematode community in a laboratory microcosm experiment. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 68:412–418
- Bhatt I, Tripathi BN (2011) Interaction of engineered nanoparticles with various components of the environment and possible strategies for their risk assessment. Chemosphere 82:308–317
- Biesmeijer JC, Roberts SP, Reemer M, Ohlemuller R, Edwards M, Peeters T et al (2006) Parallel declines in pollinators and insect-pollinated plants in Britain and the Netherlands. Science 313:351–354
- Black VJ, Stewart CA, Roberts JA, Black CR (2010) Direct effects of ozone on reproductive development in Plantago major L. populations differing in sensitivity. Environ Exp Bot 69:121–128
- Bobbink R, Hicks K, Galloway J (2010) Global assessment of nitrogen deposition effects on terrestrial plant diversity: a synthesis. Ecol Appl 20:30–59
- Brittain C, Bommarco R, Vighi M, Barmaaz S, Settele J, Potts SG (2010) The implication of an insecticide on insect flower visitation and pollination in an agricultural landscape. Agric For Entomol 12:259–266
- Bungener P, Balls GR, Nussbaum S, Geissmann M, Grub A, Fuhrer J (1998) Leaf injury characteristics of grassland species exposed to ozone in relation to soil moisture condition and vapour pressure deficit. New Phytol 132:271–282
- Cao X, Ma LQ, Chen M, Singh SP, Harris WG (2002) Impacts of phosphate amendments on lead biogeochemistry at a contaminated site. Environ Sci Technol 36:5296–5304
- Chen TB, Zheng YM, Lei M, Huang ZC, Wu HT, Chen H et al (2005) Assessment of heavy metal pollution in surface soils of urban parks in Beijing, China. Chemosphere 60:542–551

- Chirenje T, Ma LQ, Clark C, Reeves M (2003) Cu, Cr and As distribution in soils adjacent to pressure-treated decks, fences and poles. Environ Pollut 124:407–417
- Colla SR, Otterstatter MC, Gegear RJ, Thomanson JD (2006) Plight of the bumble bee: pathogen spillover from commercial to wild population. Biol Conserv 129:416–467
- Das DK, Nandi A (2002) Health hazard in stone quarries and crushers. NISM, Kolkata, Science and technolgy project
- Dawson BS, Parker GF, Cowan FJ, Hong SO (1991) Interlaboratory determination of copper, chromium, and arsenic in timber treated with preservative. Analyst 116:339–346
- De Vries W, Posch M (2011) Modelling the impact of nitrogen deposition, climate change and nutrient limitations on tree carbon sequestration in Europe for the period 1900–2050. Environ Pollut 159(10):2289–2299
- Dinesh R, Anandaraj M, Srinivasan V, Hamza S (2012) Engineered nanoparticles in the soil and their potential implications to microbial activity. Geoderma 173:19–27
- Dise NB, Ashmore M, Belyazid S (2011) Nitrogen deposition as a threat to European terrestrial biodiversity. In: The European nitrogen assessment: sources, effects and policy perspectives. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 463–494
- Dupre C, Stevens CJ, Ranke T (2010) Changes in species richness and composition in european acidic grasslands over the past 70 years: the contribution of cumulative atmospheric nitrogen deposition. Glob Chang Biol 16:344–357
- Emberson LD, Ashmore MR, Cambridge HM, Simpson D, Tuovinen JP (2000) Modelling stomatal ozone flux across Europe. Environ Pollut 109:403–413
- ES (1998) 'Status of environment in West Bengal', part-II: vectors of environmental impacts, Pub. Department of Environment, West Bengal
- Fries W, Lombi E, Horak O, Wenzel WW (2003) Immobilization of heavy metals in soils using inorganic amendments in a greenhouse study. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 166:191–196
- Gallai N, Salles JM, Settele J, Vaissiere BE (2009) Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world agriculture confronted with pollinator decline. Ecol Econ 68:810–821
- Galloway JN, Dentener FJ, Capone DG (2004) Nitrogen cycles: past, present and future. Biogeochemistry 70:153–226
- Gezer ED, Yildiz UC, Temiz A, Yildiz S, Dizman E (2005) Cu, Cr and As distribution in soils adjacent to CCA-treated utility poles in Eastern Blacksea Region of Turkey. Build Environ 40:1684–1688
- Hakeem KR, Sabir M, Ozturk M, Mermut A (2015) Soil remediation and plants: prospects and challenges. Academic/Elsevier, New York, 724 pp
- Hayes F, Wagg S, Mills G, Wilkinson S, Davies W (2012) Ozone effects in a drier climate: implications for stomatal fluxes of reduced stomatal sensitivity to soil drying in a typical grassland species. Glob Chang Biol 18:948–959
- Hingston AJ, Collins CD, Murphy RJ, Lester JN (2001) Leaching of chromated copper arsenate wood preservative: a review. Environ Pollut 111:53–66
- Hristozov D, Malsch I (2009) Hazards and risks of engineered nanoparticles for the environment and human health. Sustainability 1:1161–1194
- Isoyama M, Wada S (2007) Remediation of Pb-contaminated soils by washing with hydrochloric acid and subsequent immobilization with calcite and allophonic soil. J Hazard Mater 413:636–642
- Jakob L, Hartnik T, Henriksen T, Elmquist M, Brandli RC, Hale SE et al (2012) PAH-sequestration capacity of granular and powder activated carbon amendments in soil, and their effects on earthworms and plants. Chemosphere 88:699–705
- Jensen RR, Brake SS, Mattox JM (2004) Trace element uptake in plants grown on fly ash amended soils. Toxicol Environ Chem 86:219–230
- Jonker MT, Suijkerbuijk MP, Schmitt H, Sinnige TL (2009) Ecotoxicological effects of activated carbon addition to sediments. Environ Sci Technol 43:5959–5966
- Kavamura VN, Esposito E (2010) Biotechnological strategies applied to the decontamination of soils polluted with heavy metals. Biotechnol Adv 28:61–69

- Kenta T, Inari N, Nagamitsu T, Goka K, Hiura T (2007) Commercialized European bumblebee can cause pollination disturbance: an experiment on seven native plant species in Japan. Biol Conserv 134:298–309
- Kevan PG (1999) Pollinators as bioindicator of the state of environment: species, activity and diversity. Agric Ecosyst Environ 74:373–393
- Kim H, Kim DJ, Koo JH, Park JG, Jang YC (2007) Distribution and mobility of chromium, copper, and arsenic in soils collected near CCA-treated wood structure in Korea. Sci Total Environ 374:273–281
- Klein AM, Vaissiere BE, Cane JH, Steffan-Dewenter I, Cunninhgham SA, Kremen C et al (2007) Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. Biol Sci 274:303–313
- Kraus FB, Szentgyorgyi H, Rozej E, Rhode M, Moron D, Woyciechowski M (2011) Greenhouse bumblebees (Bombus terrestris) spread their genes into the wild. Conserv Genet 12:187–192
- Kumpiene J, Lagerkvist A, Maurice C (2008) Stabilization of As, Cr, Cu, Pb and Zn in soil using amendments – a review. Waste Manage 28:215–225
- Le Féon V, Schermann-Legionnet A, Delettre Y, Aviron S, Billeter R, Bugter R, et al (2010) Intensification of agriculture, landscape composition and wild bee communities: a large scale study in four European countries. Agric Ecosyst Environ 137(1):143–150
- Lenda M, Skórka P, Moroń D (2010) Invasive alien plant species a threat or a chance for pollinating insects in agricultural landscapes? In: Lee TH (ed) Agricultural economics: new research. Nova Science Publishers, New York, pp 67–87
- Ma TT, Christie P, Luo YM, Teng Y (2013) Phthalate esters contamination in soil and plants on agricultural land near an electronic waste recycling site. Environ Geochem Health 35:465–476
- Maria TG-S, Alkorta I, Becerril JM, Epelde L, Anza M et al (2012) Microbial monitoring of the recovery of soil quality during heavy metal phytoremediation. Water Air Soil Pollut 223:3249–3262
- Maskell LC, Smart SM, Bullock JM, Thompson K, Stevens CJ (2010) Nitrogen deposition causes widespread loss of species richness in British habitats. Glob Chang Biol 16:671–679
- Matyssek R, Wieser G, Calfapietra C, De Vries W, Dizengremel P, Ernst D, et al (2012) Forests under climate change and air pollution: gaps in understanding and future directions for research. Environ Pollut 160:57–65
- Mishra M (2004) Project achievement reports: update, Nov. 2004, on demonstration of dust suppression technology to reduce occupational and environmental health hazards in stone crusher industries, a project study in Khurda, Orissa, India by JRP, VJSS (India) and OKI (USA)
- Mishra PC (2013) Effects of stone crushers' pollution on plant morphology and biochemistry. Ecoscan 3:307–313
- Moon DH, Kim KW, Yoon IH, Grubb DG, Shin DY, Cheong KH et al (2011) Stabilization of arsenic-contaminated mine tailings using natural and calcined oyster shells. Environ Earth Sci 64:597–605
- Morandin LA, Winston ML (2005) Wild bee abundance and seed production in conventional, organic and genetically modified canola. Ecol Appl 15:871–881
- Moron D, Szentgyorgyi H, Settele J, Woyciechowski M, Skorka P (2009) Wild pollinator communities are negatively affected by invasion of alien goldenrods in grassland landscapes. Biol Conserv 142:1322–1332
- Moron D, Grzes IM, Skorka P, Szentgyorgyi H, Laskowski R, Potts SG et al (2012) Abundance and diversity of wild bees along gradients of heavy metal pollution. J Appl Ecol 49:118–125
- Mulder C, Aldenberg T, De Zwart D, Van Wijnen HJ, Breure AM (2005) Evaluating the impact of pollution on plant- Lepidoptera relations. Environmetrics 16:357–373
- Naidoo G, Chirkoot D (2004) The effects of coal dust on photosynthetic performance of the mangrove, Avicennia marina in Richards Bay, South Africa. Environ Pollut 127:359–366
- Nieminen M, Nuorteva P, Tulisalo E (2001) The effect of metals on the morality of Parnassius apollo larvae (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae). J Insect Conserv 5:1–7
- Ok YS, Yang JE, Zhang YS, Kim SJ, Chung DY (2007) Heavy metal adsorption by a formulated zeolite-Portland cement mixture. J Hazard Mater 147:91–96

- Ok YS, Kim SC, Skousen JG, Lee JS, Cheong YW, Kim SJ et al (2011a) Ameliorants to immobilize Cd in rice paddy soils contaminated by abandoned metal mines in Korea. Environ Geochem Health 33:23–25
- Ok YS, Usman AR, Lee SS, Abd El-Azeem SA, Choi BS, Hashimoto Y et al (2011b) Effects of rapeseed residue on lead and cadmium availability and uptake by rice plants in heavy metal contaminated paddy soil. Chemosphere 85:677–682
- Ozturk M (ed) (1989) Plants and pollutants in developed and developing countries. Ege University Press, Izmir, 759 pp
- Phoenix GK, Emmet BA, Britton AJ, Caporn SJ, Dise NB, Helliwell R et al (2012) Impacts of atmospheric nitrogen deposition: responses of multiple plant and soil parameters across contrasting ecosystems in long-term field experiments. Glob Chang Biol 18:1197–1215
- Piola RF, Johnston EL (2008) Pollution reduces native diversity and increase invader dominance in marine hard-substrate communities. Divers Distrib 14:329–342
- Pollution Control Department (PCD) (2007) Development of environmental and emission standards of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in Thailand. Pollution Control Department (PCD), Bangkok
- Porsch K, Dippo U, Rijal ML, Appel E, Kappler A (2010) In Situ magnetic susceptibility measurements as a tool to follow geomicrobiological transformation of Fe minerals. Environ Sci Technol 44:3846–3852
- Prajapati SK, Tripathi BD (2008) Seasonal variation of leaf dust accumulation and pigment content in plant species exposed to urban particulates pollution. J Environ Qual 37(3):865–870
- Prasad BJ, Rao DN (1981) Growth responses of phaseolus aureus plants to petro-coke pollution. J Exp Bot 32:1343–1350
- Purohit SS, Ranjan R (2007) Ecology, environment and pollution. Agrobios, Jodhpur
- Sapkota B, Cioppa MT, Gagnon JE (2012) Investigation of the changes in magnetic and chemical properties of soil during plant growth in a controlled environment. Environ Earth Sci 65:385–399
- Saxe JK, Wannamaker EJ, Conklin SW, Shupe TF, Beck BD (2007) Evaluating landfill disposal of chromated copper arsenate (CCA) treated wood and potential effects on groundwater: evidence from Florida. Chemosphere 66:496–504
- Schmidt A, Yarnold R, Hill M, Ashmore M (2005) Magnetic susceptibility as proxy for heavy metal pollution: a site study. J Chem Explor 85:109–117
- Semban T, Chandrasekhar S (2000) Impact of crusher pollution on workers in Trichy. Environ People 7(7):29
- Simonet BM, Valcarcel M (2009) Monitoring nanoparticles in the environment. Anal Bioanal Chem 393:17–21
- Singh SN, Rao DN (1980) Growth on wheat plants exposed to cement dust pollution. Water Air Soil Pollut 14:241–249
- Solo-Gabriele HM, Townsend TG, Messick B, Calitu V (2002) Characteristics of chromated copper arsenate-treated wood ash. J Hazard Mater 89:213–232
- Spassov S, Egli R, Heller F, Nourgaliev DK, Hannam J (2004) Magnetic quantification of urban pollution sources in atmospheric particulate matter. Geophys J Int 159:555–564
- Steffan-Dewenter I (2003) The importance of habitat area and landscape context for species richness of bees and wasps in fragmented orchard meadows. Conserv Biol 17:1036–1044
- Steffan-Dewenter I, Potts SG, Packer L (2005) Pollinator diversity and crop pollination services are at risk. Trends Ecol Evol 20:651–652
- Stevens CJ, Manning P, Van den Berg LJ (2011) Ecosystem responses to reduced and oxidised nitrogen inputs in european terrestrial habitats. Environ Pollut 159:665–676
- Suzuki T, Akari S, Teranishi K, Fujii S (2014) Environmental monitoring system for map Ta Phut industrial estate in Thailand. FUJITSU Sci Tech J 50(3):16–23
- Syrek D, Weiner WM, Wojtylak M, Olszowska GY, Kwapis Z (2006) Species abundance distribution of collembolan communities in forest soil polluted with heavy metals. Appl Soil Ecol 31:239–250

- Treesubsuntorn C, Suksabye P, Weangjun S, Pawana F, Thiravetyan P (2013) Benzene adsorption by plant leaf material: effect of quantity and composition by wax. Water Air Soil Pollut 224:1736
- Usman AR, Lee SS, Awad YM, Kyoung JL, Yang JE, Ok YS (2012) Soil pollution assessment and identification of hyperaccumulating plants in chromated copper arsenate (CCA) contaminated sites, Korea. Chemosphere 87:872–878
- Velthuis HH, Van Doorn A (2006) A century of advances in bumblebee domestication and the economic and environmental aspects of its commercialization for pollination. Apidologie 37(4):421–451
- Vivas A, Biro B, Ruiz-Lozano JM, Barea JM, Azcon R (2006) Two bacterial strains isolated from a Zn-polluted soil enhance plant growth and mycorrhizal efficiency under Zn-toxicity. Chemosphere 62:1523–1533
- Walther-Hellwig K, Fokul G, Frankl R, Buchler R, Ekschmitt K, Wolters V (2006) Increased density of honeybee colonies affects foraging bumblebees. Apidologie 37:517–532
- Wilkaniec Z, Giejdasz K, Prószyński G (2004) Effect of pollination of onion seeds under isolation by red mason bee (Osmia rufaL.) (Apoidea: Megachilidae) on the setting and quality of obtained seeds. J Apicult Sci 49:35–41
- Yang JE, Skousen JG, Ok YS, Yoo KY, Kim HJ (2006) Reclamation of abonded coal mine waste in Korea using lime cake by-products. Mine Water Environ 25:227–232
- Yang JE, Kim JS, Ok YS, Yoo KY, Kim HJ (2007) Mechanistic evidence and efficiency of Cr(VI) reduction in water by different sources of zerovalent irons. Water Sci Technol 55:197–202
- Yoon J, Cao X, Zhou Q, Ma LQ (2006) Accumulation of Pb, Cu, and Zn in native plants growing on a contaminated Florida site. Sci Total Environ 368:456–464
- Zeiger E (2006) The effect of air pollution on plants. In: Plant physiology. University of California, Los Angeles